



The French Energy Regulatory Commission (CRE) consults market participants.

PUBLIC CONSULTATION NO 2022-12 OF 3 NOVEMBER 2022 REGARDING THE EXEMPTION REQUEST BY THE COMPANY TOTAL ENERGIES LNG SERVICES FRANCE FOR THE FLOATING LNG TERMINAL IN LE HAVRE

Translated from the French: only the original in French is authentic

Within the framework of the drop in Russian gas deliveries to Europe following the invasion of Ukraine by Russia, *TotalEnergies LNG Services France*, a subsidiary of TotalEnergies (hereinafter "TELSF") plans to commission a floating LNG storage and regasification unit in Le Havre. This LNG terminal, with a regasification capacity of 5 Gm³ per year, should be commissioned in September 2023 for an operating period of five years.

Article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas¹ specifies that new major gas infrastructure may, upon request, be exempted from the provisions regarding third-party access and tariff regulation.

TELSF thus wishes to obtain partial exemption from the provisions concerning third-party access to infrastructure and tariff regulation, for five years from the date of commissioning of the LNG terminal.

All exemption requests must be submitted to the Energy Minister who must seek the opinion of the Energy regulatory commission (CRE), which must deliver its opinion within one month of being consulted.

TELSF submitted its exemption application to the Minister of the Energy Transition on 20 October 2022. CRE was sought for its opinion by the Minister of the Energy Transition 27 October 2022.

The purpose of the present public consultation is to present CRE's preliminary opinion on the exemption request submitted by TELSF for the floating LNG terminal in Le Havre. A public version of TELSF's exemption request is published on CRE's website.

At the end of the present public consultation, CRE will adopt a deliberation giving its opinion about TELSF's exemption request.

Paris, 3 November 2022
For the Energy Regulatory Commission,
The president,

Emmanuelle WARGON

¹ Directive 2009/73/CE of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas, as amended by the Directive 2019/962/CE of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 April 2019 amending Directive 2009/73/EC concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas

To participate in the consultation process

CRE invites interested parties to send in their contribution, by 17 November 2022 at the latest, by entering it on the platform set up by CRE: https://consultations.cre.fr. Given the short deadline, parties are invited to send in their responses as early as possible.

For the purpose of transparency, contributions will be published by CRE.

If your contribution contains elements that you wish to keep confidential, a version concealing those elements should also be provided. In this case, only that version will be published. CRE reserves the right to publish elements that could be essential for all participants, provided that they are not secrets protected by law.

In the absence of a redacted version, the full version will be published, except for information falling under secrets protected by law.

Interested parties are invited to provide well-grounded answers to the questions.

CONTENTS

1. E	BACKGROUND AND PRESENTATION OF THE PROJECT	4
1.1	LEGAL FRAMEWORK	
1.2	PROJECT CHARACTERISTICS	4
1.3	INTERFACE WITH THE TRANSMISSION NETWORK	5
1.4	TELSF'S REQUEST	5
2. (COMPLIANCE WITH THE CRITERIA IN ARTICLE 36 OF DIRECTIVE 2009/73/EC	5
2.1 MAR	IMPACT OF THE PROJECT ON COMPETITION AND THE EFFECTIVE FUNCTIONING OF THE INTERNAL EXET IN NATURAL GAS	
2.2	IMPACT OF THE PROJECT ON SECURITY OF SUPPLY	7
2.3	LEVEL OF RISK ATTACHED TO THE PROJECT	7
2.4	INDEPENDENCE OF THE OWNER WITH REGARD TO THE SYSTEM OPERATOR	8
2.5	LEVY OF CHARGES FROM INFRASTRUCTURE USERS	8
2.6	IMPACT ON THE EFFICIENT FUNCTIONING OF THE REGULATED SYSTEM CONCERNED	9
3. (COMMERCIAL FRAMWORK PLANNED BY TELSF	
3.1	COMMERCIALISATION OF CAPACITY NOT BOOKED BY TEGPL	
3.2	MECHANISM FOR UNUSED CAPACITY RELEASE	10
4. 9	SUMMARY OF CRE'S PRELIMINARY POSITION	11
5. 9	SUMMARY OF OUESTIONS	12

1. BACKGROUND AND PRESENTATION OF THE PROJECT

1.1 Legal framework

The provisions of article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas² specifies that major new gas infrastructure³ may, upon request, obtain a derogation from the provisions regarding third-party access⁴ and tariff regulation⁵, provided that the following cumulative criteria are met:

- a) the investment must enhance competition in gas supply and enhance security of supply;
- b) the level of risk attached to the investment must be such that the investment would not take place unless an exemption was granted;
- c) the infrastructure must be owned by a natural or legal person which is separate at least in terms of its legal form from the system operators in whose systems that infrastructure will be built;
- d) charges must be levied on users of that infrastructure; and
- e) the exemption must not be detrimental to competition in the relevant markets which are likely to be affected by the investment, to the effective functioning of the internal market in natural gas, the efficient functioning of the regulated systems concerned, or to security of supply of natural gas in the Union.

In accordance with this same article, the derogation decision must be adopted either by the regulatory authority of the Member State concerned or by a competent authority designated, for the purposes of the formal decision, by this State.

The provisions of this article have been transposed into national law currently set out in articles L. 111-109, L. 452-6, R. 452-1 and R. 111-43 to R. 111-51 of the French energy code.

Article R. 111-45 of the energy code states, in particular, that all derogation requests must be submitted to the Energy Minister who must seek CRE's opinion, which the latter must deliver within one month of being consulted.

The Energy Minister must notify the European Commission, within a period of three months as from the date of receipt of the complete application, its draft decision concerning the derogation request, as well as any useful information relating to it.

In accordance with Article 36 of the abovementioned directive, the European Commission, within two months from the day following the receipt of this notification, may take a decision requiring the decision to grant an exemption to be amended or withdrawn⁶.

Moreover, article 29 of law no. 2022-1158 of 16 August 2022 on emergency measures to protect purchasing power (hereinafter "purchasing power" law) provides a regime for the operation of a floating liquefied natural gas storage and regasification terminal. In particular, this article states that the mechanisms applicable to the management and allocation of the capacity of the facility having an exemption, provided for in article L. 111-109 of the energy code, must be defined by the Energy regulatory commission.

1.2 Project characteristics

Within the framework of the drop in Russian gas deliveries to Europe following the invasion of Ukraine by Russia, TELSF plans to commission a floating liquefied naturel gas storage and regasification unit (hereinafter "FSRU") in the harbour of Le Havre in September 2023. This rapidly deployable solution could indeed increase French natural gas import capacity in the short term. This FSRU has a regasification capacity of 5 Gm³/year (and a peak capacity of 7,5 Gm³/year) and 142 750 m³ of liquefied naturel gas (LNG) storage capacity⁷. TELSF intends to operate the FSRU for a period of five years as from the date of its commissioning.

TELSF's target schedule plans for the commercial launch of the project in September 2023.

Operating costs (OPEX) represent roughly 90% of the project's fixed costs (for about 10% investment costs). Furthermore, the project's variable costs include, in particular, the costs for heating the LNG: unlike some onshore LNG terminals, the FSRU functions with a closed-loop regasification system thanks to heaters supplied with natural gas (and not a heating system using sea water, for instance). As it is also the case with the other LNG terminals, the

² Directive 2009/73/CE of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas, as amended by the Directive 2019/962/CE of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 April 2019 amending Directive 2009/73/EC concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas

 $[\]ensuremath{^3}$ i.e. interconnectors between Member States, LNG and storage facilities.

⁴ set out in articles 32 to 34 of the abovementioned Directive.

⁵ set out in article 41, paragraphs 6, 8 and 10 of the abovementioned Directive.

⁶ This two-month period may be extended by an additional period of two months where further information is sought by the Commission. This additional period shall begin on the day following the receipt of the complete information. The initial two-month period may also be extended with the consent of both the Commission and the regulatory authority.

⁷ One cubic metre of LNG, once regasified, is equivalent to 600-650 m³ of natural gas under normal temperature and pressure conditions.

FSRU's variable costs are higher if the operator has to operate it outside of steady-state mode (it has to maintain a minimum level of LNG in the tanks in order to keep them cold).

1.3 Interface with the transmission network

The FSRU operated by TELSF will be connected to GRTgaz's gas transmission network. As stated in CRE's deliberation of 21 July 22 on GRTgaz's investment programme⁸, the transmission network is already relatively well-sized to accommodate such infrastructure given that there was an LNG terminal at that site until 1990. The installation of the FSRU will therefore not require any network reinforcement work, apart from the connection to the terminal.

Investments required for connection involve building a 1,400 m^2 platform to combine the connection for the FSRU, heating, odorisation and pressure regulation functions, as well a DN500 pipeline of approximately 4 km in length leading to the existing network, for an investment cost of about 25 M \odot , excluding targeted provisions. Operation of the FSRU involves the subscription of entry capacity to the transmission network by terminal users: the corresponding revenue will cover connection costs for GRTgaz.

The acceptable entry capacity to the transmission network is being determined by GRTgaz, and will depend, in particular, on the natural gas consumption level in the zone. Major efforts to reduce natural gas consumption by customers (particularly industrial) in the Le Havre region to contribute to European security of supply could results in the reduction of the network's evacuation capacity. The entry capacity on the transmission network for the users of the FSRU would therefore be mechanically reduced. This reduction could represent about 10% of the terminal's regasification capacity.

Moreover, granting an exemption must not give to the concerned infrastructure an unfair competitive advantage compared to the existing terminals, regulated or not. In this regard, and as it is already the case for Dunkerque LNG, TELSF will have to respect the specifications applicable to the interfaces between the other infrastructures and the other French LNG terminals.

1.4 TELSF's request

TELSF wishes to obtain an exemption from the provisions concerning third-party access to infrastructure and tariff regulation, for a period of five years as from the start of commercial operation of the FSRU. TotalEnergies, through its subsidiary TotalEnergies Gas & Power Ltd (hereinafter "TEGPL"), thus wishes to book 50% of the terminal's capacity.

In any event, if this derogation were to be granted to TELSF, the capacity attributed to TEGPL would correspond to half of the terminal's technically available regasification capacity, taking into account the constraints on the level of entry capacity on the transmission network described above.

2. COMPLIANCE WITH THE CRITERIA IN ARTICLE 36 OF DIRECTIVE 2009/73/EC

Article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC states that five cumulative criteria must be met in order for an exemption to be granted (see part 1.1). Among them, criterion a) concerns both the impact of the project on competition and security of supply, while criterion e) concerns the impact of the project on competition, the effective functioning of the internal market in natural gas, the efficient functioning of the concerned regulated networks and security of supply.

The impact of the project on competition and the effective functioning of the internal market in natural gas (criteria a) and e)) is analysed below in part 2.1.

The impact of the project on security of supply (criteria a) and e)) is analysed in part 2.2.

The level of risk attached to the project (criterion b)), independence of the infrastructure owner with regard to the system operator (criterion c)), the levy of charges on infrastructure users (criterion d)) and the impact on the efficient functioning of the concerned regulated systems (criterion e)) are analysed in parts 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6 respectively.

2.1 Impact of the project on competition and the effective functioning of the internal market in natural gas

To meet the criteria a) and e) of Article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC, the investment must enhance competition in gas supply and the exemption must not be detrimental to competition in the markets concerned or to the effective functioning of the internal market in natural gas. In order to analyse the competitive effect of the FSRU and the exemption, it must be determined whether they would lead to the creation or reinforcement of a dominant position in the concerned markets.

The upstream wholesale market is defined as the market on which gas suppliers purchase gas wholesale from producers in order to then resale on the trading market (downstream wholesale market).

⁸ Délibération de la CRE du 21 juillet 2022 portant sur le bilan d'exécution du programme d'investissements 2021 et approbation du programme d'investissements 2021 et approbation du programme d'investissements 2022 révisé de GRTgaz et de Teréga (transport)

Concerning the upstream wholesale market:

In its competitive analysis, TELSF defined the relevant market as the upstream wholesale natural gas market, including LNG gas supplies. From a geographical point of view, the market selected includes countries whose gas systems are interconnected directly or indirectly with the French gas transmission network, i.e. Belgium, the Netherlands, Germany, Italy (through Switzerland) and Spain. A participant's market share in the upstream wholesale market corresponds to their relative weight in the gas supply of the countries concerned. The operator used three scenarios to assess the market share of the TotalEnergies group in the upstream wholesale market over the 2023-2028 period, with and without the new LNG terminal projects. TELSF's indicative estimate shows with the Le Havre FSRU TotalEnergies's market share in the relevant upstream wholesale market should remain inferior to 15% in all of the scenarios.

From a wholesale market concentration point of view, TELSF estimates that the booking by TEGPL of 50% of capacity must be considered as a substitute for existing Russian gas imports until 2022. Therefore, it would be associated with a corresponding drop in Gazprom's market share, and would lead to a reduction ranging between 20 and 25 points of the HHI⁹ market index. According to TELSF, this therefore demonstrates the positive effect of the Le Havre's FSRU which would reduce upstream wholesale market concentration.

Concerning the downstream wholesale market:

The downstream wholesale market is defined as the market in which suppliers (who purchase gas wholesale from the upstream wholesale market) sell gas wholesale to other traders or retailers.

TELSF considered that the trading market (including all types of trade, on the exchanges and on the OTC markets) constitute the relevant markets, with an assumption maximising the market share of TotalEnergies according to which, once regasified within the Le Havre FSRU, the gas will be injected into the network and sold by TEGPL on the French and European hubs. From a geographical point of view, the West-European market comprising the different hubs in which gas supply/demand balance is formed (PEG, TTF, THE, ZTP, PSV and PVB) was deemed relevant. The competitive analysis undertaken by the operator in this market segment indicates that the project would improve the competitive situation in the downstream wholesale market. In order to analyse the impact of the Le Havre FSRU on the concentration of the downstream wholesale market, TotalEnergies quantified the variation in its contribution to the HHI index related to the increase (corresponding to 50% of capacity use by TEGPL) in volumes traded in the West-European downstream wholesale market. The results show that with the Le Havre FSRU, TotalEnergies's market share 10 would be lower than 6% leading to an insignificant change of the HHI index.

Concerning other markets:

TELSF also gave its assessment of the project's impact on indirectly related markets, in particular downstream retail gas supply markets and upstream world markets. With regard to the retail gas market, TELSF states that it cannot foreclose the market to new entrants because it does not have substantial power in the upstream market.

As for upstream world markets, the impact of the project on LNG production and transmission markets would be notably similar whether the FSRU is deployed in Le Havre or elsewhere, since it is leased on a long-term basis by TotalEnergies.

CRE's preliminary analysis

Investments making it possible to increase the gas supply using new sources generally tend to improve competition in the wholesale market, and subsequently, in the retail gas market, except if these sources are controlled by companies having a dominant position in the relevant markets. At this stage, CRE considers, based on elements submitted by TELSF and its own analysis, that TotalEnergies would not be in dominant position in the concerned wholesale markets, would it be upstream or downstream. It also considers, at this stage, that this project would not have any negative effects on competition in the retail market. The project, which aims to replace former Russian gas imports with LNG, only partially compensates the reduction of the Gazprom's market share.

In addition, as stated in part 1.3, the Le Havre FSRU will have to comply with the same operational rules related to interfaces with other infrastructure as the other French LNG terminals. It is important to note that because of the level of gas fuel consumption necessary for its operation (see part 1.2), the cost for clients to use the terminal will, a priori, be higher than the cost of other French LNG terminals. Therefore, the FSRU will not have a competitive advantage over these infrastructures.

At this stage, CRE considers that the criteria related to competition and the effective functioning of the internal market (criteria a) and e)) are met.

⁹ The HHI index is a criterion for assessing market concentration. It is the sum of squared market shares of all participants in the market in question. The higher the index, the more the market is concentrated. The lower the index, the more fragmented the market. This index is between 0 and 10,000: a variation of 20 points is therefore not very significant.

¹⁰ This is defined as the share of volumes traded by TotalEnergies among the total volumes traded in the hubs in question.

Question 1 Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to competition and the effective functioning of the internal market?

2.2 Impact of the project on security of supply

To meet the criteria a) and e) of Article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC, the investment must enhance security of supply and the exemption must not be detrimental to the natural gas supply of the European Union.

TELSF considers that the project can respond to security of supply and energy sovereignty challenges. According to TELSF, the project to install a floating regasification terminal in the Le Havre harbour would increase LNG import capacity by approximatively 5 Gm³ per year in the French and West-European gas markets as from September 2023 for a period of five years.

TELSF notes that prior to the invasion of Ukraine by Russia, the gas and LNG import capacity available ¹¹ in France were reaching 2,060 GWh/d. After 24 February 2022, available import capacity in France was reduced by 16%, dropping to 1,735 GWh/d (i.e. a difference of 325 GWh/d).

TELSF states that the Le Havre FSRU will improve security of supply in this deteriorated context. The additional import capacity represented by the project is 150 GWh/d, which would reduce the difference compared to the precrisis situation by about 50%, i.e. 325 GWh/d to 175 GWh/d. TELSF states that it is confident regarding TEGPL's capacity to deliver LNG through the FSRU.

CRE's preliminary analysis

Russia has significantly reduced its gas supply to the European Union. This caused a major deficit in gas supply at the European level, which is likely to be offset only partially in the short term.

At this stage, CRE considers that the installation of the FSRU in Le Havre would contribute considerably to the improvement of security of supply in France and Europe. The additional LNG import capacity available in the short term would indeed facilitate gas supply as from next winter for France and for Europe. Moreover, the FSRU would strengthen the resilience of the French gas system in the event of a loss of supply infrastructure.

CRE therefore considers, at this stage, that the criteria related to security of supply are met.

Question 2 Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the security of supply?

2.3 Level of risk attached to the project

TELSF considers that the operational characteristics of the FSRU are not adapted to the implementation of a regulatory regime. One of the reasons for this position has to do with the fact that the terminal's storage capacities are limited compared to the LNG volumes usually shipped by LNG carriers, which generates constraints related to the upstream and downstream flexibility provided by the FSRU. Indeed, the FSRU's LNG storage capacity, which is lower than that of a conventional LNG terminal¹², does not enable TELSF to take into account contingencies associated with the LNG carrier offloading programme (risk of saturation of storage capacity if the timeframe between two offloading operations is not sufficient for injecting all of the gas into the network). Since the difficulties related with this constraint increase with the number of terminal users, TELSF states that the structure of its commercial and operational offer would be facilitated by a guarantee of 50% subscription of the terminal's capacity by TEGPL.

Furthermore, TELSF indicates that the 50% capacity exemption would make the Le Havre FSRU more economically attractive. TEGPL's 50% capacity subscription would enable the terminal to ensure not only more attractive operational conditions, but also a stable and predictable tariff. This last point is particularly important given the cost of regasification and uncertainty surrounding the level of the FSRU's variable costs if the use rate is not sufficient. Indeed, as stated in part 1.2, the regasification service proposed by the FSRU requires natural gas consumption. This self-consumption makes the cost to use the FSRU higher than that of conventional LNG terminals. Moreover, this cost would tend to increase in the event of under-utilisation (an under-utilisation generating costs of continued cooling, in particular), which would further reduce the attractiveness of the FSRU. In addition, TELSF notes that if prices on the French wholesale market are lower than on other Western European markets, as has been the case for several months, the capacity available on French LNG terminals would be less attractive to LNG market players. Under these conditions, it appears critical for the operator to be able to guarantee a competitive tariff, and a sufficient level of stability and visibility for its clients.

 $^{^{11}}$ This corresponds, in TELSF's exemption request, to the sum of the technical capacities of the PITTM and PIR Dunkerque and the effective flows at the PIR Virtualys, Obergailbach, Oltingue and Pirineos.

¹² In comparison, French onshore LNG terminals have regasification capacity between 2 to 4 times higher than those of the FSRU.

TELSF also states that given the uncertainty related on one hand to subscriptions and the future use of the terminal's capacity and on the other hand to the structure of FSRU charges (the predominant share of OPEX), the tariff level that could be set for the FSRU by CRE, if it were regulated, would not allow to cover the risks attached to the project. Indeed, with regard to the structure of FSRU's expenses, and contrary to a conventional terminal, FSRU's operating expenses represent the largest share of its costs (see part 1.2). In the case of existing regulated terminals, operating expenses are only covered by the regulated tariff but are not subject to remuneration. On the other hand, TELSF estimates that the remuneration rate applied to its investments will be only between 3% and 5 % and that this rate, applied only to the value of the regulated assets, would be insufficient for a project such as that of the FSRU given its limited operating duration and therefore its amortisation period (5 years). TELSF also highlights its exposure to the risk of the exchange rate between the Euro and the Dollar, since FSRU charter, which represents a major portion of costs, is payable in American dollars. TELSF therefore considers that if the FSRU managed to sell all of its regasification capacity within the framework of a regulatory scheme, its revenues would be significantly lower than the revenue it would likely receive by making the FSRU available to a third party at market price in another geographical zone.

CRE's preliminary analysis

Due to the technical and operational characteristics of the project, CRE considers at this stage that the Le Havre FSRU is exposed to greater risks than the other LNG terminals. The terminal's limited storage capacity, combined with relatively low investment costs compared to operating costs (which, moreover, may vary heavily based on the level of use of the FSRU), lead to significant uncertainties for the project.

In addition, at this stage, CRE shares TotalEnergies's analysis that the regulatory regime would increase the level of risk attached to the project by not guaranteeing a sufficient level of use to ensure a stable and competitive tariff. The exemption is therefore likely to make the FSRU more attractive given that the guaranteed reservation of 50% of the infrastructure's capacity provides better operational conditions for the use of the FSRU, with a more stable and lower tariff. This more attractive tariff will also reinforce the positive effect of the FSRU on security of supply (see section 2.2).

At this stage, CRE considers the criterion b) of Article 36 is met.

Question 3 Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the risk of the project?

2.4 Independence of the owner with regard to the system operator

As indicated in part 1.3, the FSRU will be connected to GRTgaz's transmission network. GRTgaz is 60.9% owned by Engie, a vertically integrated company in the energy sector, 39% by the Société d'Infrastructures Gazière (SIG) (company held by the Caisse des Dépôts and CNP, which itself is part of the Caisse des Dépôts group), and 0.5% by the Alto employee fund. GRTgaz is therefore considered separate from TotalEnergies LNG Services France SAS. Equally, GRTgaz does not hold an interest in TELSF or TotalEnergies.

CRE's preliminary analysis

The demonstration of the absence of a legal link between TELSF and GRTgaz, the gas transmission system operator in which the FSRU would be set up, is immediate and requires no comment on CRE's part.

At this stage, CRE considers that criterion c) is met.

Question 4 Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criterion related to the independence of the infrastructure owner regarding the system operator?

2.5 Levy of charges from infrastructure users

In its exemption request, TELSF outlined the tariff modalities that will be established once the FSRU is operational. According to the operator, this tariff will cover the terminal's costs (see part 1.2) and reach the profitability rate expected by the company for this type of project. The gas fuel necessary for LNG regasification will be withdrawn from the LNG volumes offloaded by clients. The company states that the tariff paid by users, including TEGPL, will be subject to a "ship or pay" commitment, and will be billed and paid monthly on a $1/12^{th}$ basis.

CRE's preliminary analysis

At this stage, CRE considers that the tariff proposed by TELSF would cover the FSRU's construction and operating costs and would generate a reasonable return on the capital employed.

CRE plans to recommend in its opinion that TELSF must forward to CRE the signed capacity subscription contracts and the FSRU's user tariff.

At this stage, CRE considers that criterion d) is met, provided that this condition is satisfied.

Question 5 Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the collection of access fees from the users of the infrastructure?

2.6 Impact on the efficient functioning of the regulated system concerned

TELSF considers that the project would have a positive impact on the French system, particularly within the context of the current interruption in Russian pipeline gas supply. The operator illustrates its position using analyses conducted by GRTgaz. More specifically, it considers that the Le Havre FSRU will constitute a new gas injection point on the national and European transmission network, contributing to improving the reliability of the entire system and that the volumes of gas emitted under strong pressure by the FSRU in Le Havre will have a positive impact on peak balance coverage in a cold day scenario without Russian gas, at the perimeter of the French network.

Moreover, TELSF is in regular contact with GRTgaz in order to examine the modalities for connecting the FRSU to the gas transmission network. As stated in point 1.3, GRTgaz's network is already relatively well-sized to accommodate such infrastructure without putting any pressure on the network.

The company intends to enter into an inter-operator agreement with GRTgaz, which will allow for the establishment of the modalities for flow management and the proper management of the interface between infrastructure. Within the framework of this agreement, TELSF will supply GRTgaz with data useful for the control and balancing of the network.

CRE's preliminary analysis

At this stage, CRE considers that not only would the Le Havre FSRU not have any negative impact, but that it would in fact have a positive impact on GRTgaz's network, and therefore criterion e) is met.

Question 6 Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the efficient functioning of the regulated system?

3. COMMERCIAL FRAMWORK PLANNED BY TELSF

3.1 Commercialisation of capacity not booked by TEGPL

Within the framework of its exemption application, TELSF wishes for 50% of the FSRU's capacity to be booked by TEGPL, another subsidiary of TotalEnergies. TELSF plans to sell the remaining capacity in several stages.

First, six months prior to the commercial launch of the project (a priori in March 2023), TELSF intends to sell the entire 50% of the available capacity for the five years of the commercial operation of the FSRU. Candidates will have to book at least 1 Gm³/year over the entire period of commercial operation of the FSRU. Candidates will be able to propose a premium added to the reserve price of the first year: bids will be classed based on the revenue generated for the project.

If all of the capacity is not sold during the first stage, and as long as capacity remains available, TELSF will set up for sell every year, at the latest three months before the start of operating year N, the capacity available as from operating year N until the end of the terminal's operating period, according to the same rules as the first stage.

Lastly, if capacity for operating year N is still available at the end of this second stage, it will be proposed to the existing subscribers, then to the market through an open and non-discriminatory call for tenders. The terms and conditions of this stage will be defined later.

TELSF specifies that TotalEnergies entities will not be able to take part in the first stage of this process. They will be able to participate in the following stages but will not be able to propose a premium when they participate in auctions.

As indicated in section 2.5, TELSF plans to set the reserve price for the selling of capacity at a level enabling it to cover its costs and reach the profitability rate projected by the company for this type of project. This reserve price will be the tariff paid by TEGPL for the 50% of capacity that will be reserved for it. The gas fuel necessary for regasification of the LNG will be withdrawn from the LNG volumes offloaded by clients, under the same conditions for all the clients.

CRE's preliminary analysis

With regard to the commercialisation of the capacity that will not be booked by TEGPL, the exemption application contains a description of the main principles of the mechanism planned by TELSF, without specifying all of the details. At this stage, CRE considers that these main principles are relevant, and that the mechanism envisaged complies, a priori, with the principles of transparency and non-discrimination. TELSF will have to specify the operational rules of this mechanism before its launch. In compliance with the provisions of Article 29 of the purchasing power law, CRE will define, based on a proposal by TELSF, the rules and mechanisms applicable to the management and allocation of the facility's capacities.

CRE has reservations at this stage on the possibility for TotalEnergies entities to take part in auctions as from the second stage of the process. Indeed, in the event that capacity remains available after the first stage, and no subscriber requests it with a premium in the second stage, TotalEnergies could therefore book, over several years, capacity higher than the 50% that will be allocated to it within the framework of the exemption.

In order to guarantee other market participants' a better access to the FSRU, it could be relevant that TotalEnergies should only be able to book additional capacity for the short term (i.e. for a period of one year maximum). CRE therefore plans to recommend in its opinion that the exemption be conditional upon the participation of TotalEnergies entities to the capacity commercialisation being limited short term bookings, for a period of one year maximum.

TELSF plans to set an identical reserve price which will be known by all market participants: at this stage, CRE considers that this will allow for transparent and non-discriminatory commercialisation of capacity.

Lastly, Article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC states that a market test is organised by the operator wishing to obtain an exemption before this exemption is granted. CRE therefore requests TELSF to organise a market test, which will have to comply with the principles of transparency and non-discrimination.

Question 7 Do you also consider that the participation of TotalEnergies entities in the capacity commercialisation process should be limited? If so, at which stage(s) of the commercialisation process?

3.2 Mechanism for unused capacity release

In order to avoid capacity withholding, TELSF plans to set up a mechanism for putting back on the market capacity booked but not used by their subscribers, similar to the use-it-or-lose-it (UIOLI) mechanism. TELSF intends to give subscribers the choice between two capacity release mechanisms (selling of an offloading slot, or a swap). Both mechanisms would function based on a call for tenders, for which the reserve price will be set by the holder of the unused capacity.

CRE's preliminary analysis

TELSF's proposal includes a description of the main principles of the mechanism envisaged by the operator, without specifying all the details. For example, the terms and conditions for the call for tenders and the timeframe for reselling capacity before the date of an unused slot have not been defined by TELSF, which intends to submit it at a later stage for CRE's examination.

CRE considers that the establishment of a mechanism for unused capacity release is essential, to avoid capacity withholding and maximise the LNG volumes offloaded. At this stage the mechanism envisaged by TELSF is not completely satisfactory: in particular, the fact that subscribers themselves set the reserve price for their unused capacity does not completely rule out the possibility of capacity withholding. In addition, important parameters such as the time limit for resale, as well as the penalty for non-compliance, are not specified by TELSF.

Therefore, CRE intends to recommend in its opinion that the exemption be conditional upon the establishment by TELSF, before the commissioning of the FSRU, of a UIOLI mechanism that would rule out the risk of capacity withholding.

The rules and mechanisms applicable to the management and allocation of the facility's capacities will be defined by CRE, based on a proposal by TELSF.

Question 8 Do you share CRE's preliminary opinion concerning the capacity release mechanism envisaged by TELSF?

4. SUMMARY OF CRE'S PRELIMINARY POSITION

At this stage, CRE considers that TELSF's request meets the five criteria specified by Article 36 of Directive 2009/73/EC. CRE therefore plans to give a favourable opinion to TELSF's request for an exemption from the principle of third-party access and tariff regulation for a period of five years. In addition, pursuant to the provisions of Article 29 of the purchasing power law, the decision granting the exemption to the operator of a floating LNG terminal mentions the rules and mechanisms applicable to the management and allocation of the facility's capacities, which are defined by CRE.

In this context, CRE plans to recommend to the Energy Minister that exemption draft, that will be communicated to the European Commission, be subject to the following conditions:

- 1) TELSF makes available to market players half of the technically available regasification capacities through a transparent and non-discriminatory commercialisation procedure, the terms of which are set by the Energy Regulatory Commission, on the proposal of TELSF;
- 2) The participation of TotalEnergies or other companies controlled by TotalEnergies in this commercialisation process is limited to the commercialisation of short-term capacity (i.e. maximum one year);
- 3) TELSF sets up and publishes the conditions for the release to the market of subscribed and unused capacities. Subscribed but unscheduled capacities shall be released to the market sufficiently in advance to allow their use by other market players. The mechanisms envisaged to avoid the withholding of capacities are fixed by the Energy Regulatory Commission on the proposal of the TELSF company;
- 4) TotalEnergies or other companies controlled by TotalEnergies may only acquire re-gasification capacity from other users of the terminal under the mechanism set out in point (3);
- 5) TELSF communicates to the Energy Regulatory Commission its tariff for access to terminal capacities and the signed capacity subscription contracts;
- 6) TELSF publishes, as a minimum, the same information that is required of regulated meteorological terminal operators with regard to unloading slots, available capacity and any information necessary for the proper functioning of the transmission network to which it is connected;
- 7) TELSF respects the specifications applicable to interfaces between other infrastructures and other French LNG terminals.

Finally, as indicated in section 3.1, CRE requests TELSF to organise a non-binding market test as soon as possible.

Question 9 Are you in favour of granting TELSF an exemption over a period of five years from the date of commissioning of the LNG terminal?

Question 10 Do you have any comments concerning the characteristics of the project?

Question 11 Are you in favour of the conditions that CRE intends to recommend to the Energy Minister in its opinion for the granting of the exemption?

Question 12 Do you think that the granting of this exemption should be conditional upon the establishment of other measures? If so, which ones?

Question 13 Do you have any other remarks or proposals concerning TELSF's exemption request for the Le Havre terminal?

5. SUMMARY OF QUESTIONS

- **Question 1** Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to competition and the effective functioning of the internal market?
- **Question 2** Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the security of supply?
- **Question 3** Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the risk of the project?
- **Question 4** Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criterion related to the independence of the infrastructure owner regarding the system operator?
- **Question 5** Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the collection of access fees from the users of the infrastructure?
- **Question 6** Do you consider that the project presented by TELSF meets the criteria related to the efficient functioning of the regulated system?
- **Question 7** Do you also consider that the participation of TotalEnergies entities in the capacity commercialisation process should be limited? If so, at which stage(s) of the commercialisation process?
- **Question 8** Do you share CRE's preliminary opinion concerning the capacity release mechanism envisaged by TELSF?
- **Question 9** Are you in favour of granting TELSF an exemption over a period of five years from the date of commissioning of the LNG terminal?
- Question 10 Do you have any comments concerning the characteristics of the project?
- **Question 11** Are you in favour of the conditions that CRE intends to recommend to the Energy Minister in its opinion for the granting of the exemption?
- **Question 12** Do you think that the granting of this exemption should be conditional upon the establishment of other measures? If so, which ones?
- **Question 13** Do you have any other remarks or proposals concerning TELSF's exemption request for the Le Havre terminal?